IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

THE LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF NEVADA; THE STATE OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF TAXATION; and THE STATE OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF MOTOR VEHICLES,

Appellants/Cross-Respondents,

vs.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Under NRAP 3A(b)(1), this Court has jurisdiction to review a final judgment entered in an action or proceeding commenced in the court in which the judgment is rendered. On October 7, 2020, the district court entered an order and final judgment adjudicating all the claims of all the parties and granting final judgment in favor of Plaintiffs on their claims for declaratory and injunctive relief.

Under NRAP 3A(b)(3), this Court has jurisdiction to review an order granting or refusing to grant an injunction or dissolving or refusing to dissolve an injunction. On October 7, 2020, in its order and final judgment granting Plaintiffs' claims for injunctive relief, the district court enjoined Defendant Nevada Department of Motor Vehicles and Defendant Nevada Department of Taxation from collecting and enforcing the fees and taxes enacted by SB 542 and Sections 2, 3, 37 and 39 of SB 551, respectively, and ordered that all fee payers and taxpayers from whom such fees and taxes have already been collected are entitled to an immediate refund thereof with interest at the legal rate of interest from the date collected.

ROUTING STATEMENT

For purposes of appellate assignment, this appeal should be heard and decided by the Supreme Court under NRAP 17(a) and should not be assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b). The principal issues raised by this appeal present questions of state constitutional law that are of first impression in Nevada under NRAP 17(a)(10) and are of statewide public importance under NRAP 17(a)(11) regarding the Legislature's reasonable interpretation of the two-thirds majority requirement in Article 4, Section 18(2) of the Nevada Constitution, which provides that an affirmative vote of not fewer than two-thirds of the members elected to each House of the Legislature is necessary to pass a bill which creates, generates or increases any public revenue in any form.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

This appeal involves a state constitutional challenge to provisions of Senate Bill No. 542 (SB 542) and Senate Bill No. 551 (SB 551) of the 2019 legislative session. SB 542, 2019 Nev. Stat., ch. 400, § 1, at 2501-02; SB 551, 2019 Nev. Stat., ch. 537, §§ 2, 3, 37, 39, at 3273, 3275, 3294. In the district court, Respondents/Cross-Appellants (hereafter "Plaintiffs") claimed that the challenged provisions of the bills created, generated or increased public revenue and that the Legislature passed the bills in violation of the two-thirds majority requirement in Article 4, Section 18(2) of the Nevada Constitution ("two-thirds requirement"), which provides that an affirmative vote of not fewer than two-thirds of the members elected to each House of the Legislature is necessary to pass a bill which creates, generates or increases any public revenue in any form.

Through the passage of SB 542, the Legislature amended the future expiration of the existing technology fee of \$1 per transaction collected by the Department of Motor Vehicles ("DMV technology fee") and extended it for two fiscal years from June 30, 2020, until June 30, 2022—before the future expiration of the DMV technology fee had become legally operative and binding. SB 542, 2019 Nev. Stat., ch. 400, § 1, at 2502. Based on the Legislative Counsel's legal opinion interpreting the two-thirds requirement, the Legislature could reasonably conclude that SB 542 was not subject to the two-thirds requirement because the bill did not change—but maintained—the existing computation base and legally operative rate currently in effect for the DMV technology fee, which remains at \$1 per transaction.

Through the passage of sections 2, 3, 37 and 39 of SB 551, the Legislature eliminated the future application of the rate adjustment procedure for the Modified Business Tax ("MBT") before any future reduced rates for the MBT had become legally operative and binding. SB 551, 2019 Nev. Stat., ch. 537, §§ 2, 3, 37, 39, at 3273, 3275, 3294. Based on the Legislative Counsel's legal opinion interpreting the two-thirds requirement, the Legislature could reasonably conclude that SB 551 was not subject to the two-thirds requirement because the challenged provisions of the bill did not change—but maintained—the existing computation bases and legally operative rates currently in effect for the MBT, which remain at 2 percent and 1.475 percent, as applicable to each affected business.

The principal issue of state constitutional law in this appeal is whether, based on the Legislative Counsel's legal opinion interpreting the two-thirds requirement, contemporaneous extrinsic evidence of the purpose and intent of the two-thirds requirement, and cases from other states interpreting similar supermajority requirements, the Legislature could reasonably conclude that: (1) SB 542 did not create, generate or increase any public revenue in any form because the bill did not change—but maintained—the existing computation base and legally operative rate currently in effect for the DMV technology fee; and (2) sections 2, 3, 37 and 39 of SB 551 did not create, generate or increase any public revenue in any form because the challenged provisions of the bill did not change—but maintained—the existing computation bases and legally operative rates currently in effect for the MBT.

INTRODUCTION

Appellant/Cross-Respondent Legislature of the State of Nevada ("Legislature"), by and through its counsel the Legal Division of the Legislative Counsel Bureau ("LCB Legal") under NRS 218F.720, hereby files its opening brief on appeal pursuant to this Court's order on March 4, 2021, setting an expedited briefing schedule in this appeal and cross-appeal and scheduling oral argument before the en banc court on May 3, 2021.

The Legislature asks this Court to reverse the portion of the district court's order: (1) granting summary judgment in favor of Plaintiffs on their claims for declaratory and injunctive relief; (2) declaring that SB 542 and SB 551 were bills which create, generate or increase any public revenue in any form and were passed in violation of the two-thirds requirement; (3) invalidating the provisions of SB 542 and sections 2, 3, 37 and 39 of SB 551 as unconstitutional; and (4) enjoining the Department of Motor Vehicles and Department of Taxation from collecting and enforcing the fees and taxes under the invalidated provisions and ordering an immediate refund of those fees and taxes to the affected fee payers and taxpayers with interest at the legal rate of interest from the date collected. (*JA6:001188*, $\eta \eta$ 1-2.)¹

¹ Citations to "JA" are to volume and page numbers of the joint appendix.

In reversing that portion of the district court's order, the Legislature asks this Court to find that SB 542 and SB 551 were not subject to the two-thirds requirement because the Legislature could reasonably conclude that: (1) SB 542 did not create, generate or increase any public revenue in any form because the bill did not change—but maintained—the existing computation base and legally operative rate currently in effect for the DMV technology fee; and (2) sections 2, 3, 37 and 39 of SB 551 did not create, generate or increase any public revenue in any form because the challenged provisions of the bill did not change—but maintained—the existing computation bases and legally operative rates currently in effect for the MBT.

However, if this Court finds that the challenged provisions of sections 2, 3, 37 and 39 of SB 551 are unconstitutional because they were enacted in violation of the two-thirds requirement, the Legislature asks this Court to find that, under the severance doctrine, the remaining provisions of SB 551 are severable and remain in effect because: (1) the remaining provisions, standing alone, can be given legal effect without the invalidated provisions; and (2) preserving the remaining provisions would accord with legislative intent. Therefore, under such circumstances, the Legislature asks this Court to affirm that portion of the district court's order declaring that "the remaining provisions of SB 551 can be severed and shall remain in effect." (*JA6:001188*, ¶ 1.)

2

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

I. In passing SB 542 and SB 551, the Legislature acted on the Legislative Counsel's legal opinion interpreting the two-thirds requirement.

During the 2019 legislative session, members of the Majority and Minority Leadership in both Houses made requests under NRS 218F.710(2) for the Legislative Counsel to give a written legal opinion concerning the applicability of the two-thirds requirement to potential legislation.² On May 8, 2019, the Legislative Counsel provided the requested legal opinion. (*JA3:000647-70.*) In the legal opinion, the Legislative Counsel was asked whether the two-thirds requirement applies to a bill which extends until a later date—or revises or eliminates—a future decrease in or future expiration of existing state taxes when that future decrease or expiration is not legally operative and binding yet. (*JA3:000647.*)

In answering that legal question, the Legislative Counsel stated that in the absence of any controlling Nevada case law, the legal question must be addressed

² At the time, NRS 218F.710(2) provided: "Upon the request of any member or committee of the Legislature or the Legislative Commission, the Legislative Counsel shall give an opinion in writing upon any question of law, including existing law and suggested, proposed and pending legislation which has become a matter of public record." During the 32nd Special Session, the Legislature amended NRS 218F.710(2), but those amendments did not change the authority of the Legislative Counsel to give an opinion in writing upon any question of law. Assembly Bill No. 2, 2020 Nev. Stat., 32nd Spec. Sess., ch. 2, § 22 (effective Aug. 2, 2020).

by: (1) applying several well-established rules of construction followed by Nevada's appellate courts; (2) examining contemporaneous extrinsic evidence of the purpose and intent of the two-thirds requirement when it was considered by the Legislature in 1993 and presented to the voters in 1994 and 1996; and (3) considering case law interpreting similar constitutional provisions from other jurisdictions for guidance in this area of the law. (*JA3:000653.*) After discussing and analyzing these authorities, the Legislative Counsel provided the following interpretation of the two-thirds requirement:

It is the opinion of this office that Nevada's two-thirds majority requirement does not apply to a bill which extends until a later date—or revises or eliminates—a future decrease in or future expiration of existing state taxes when that future decrease or expiration is not legally operative and binding yet, because such a bill does not change—but maintains—the existing computation bases currently in effect for the existing state taxes.

(*JA3:000670.*)

After being provided with the Legislative Counsel's opinion interpreting the two-thirds requirement, the Legislature passed SB 542 and SB 551 by a majority of all the members elected to each House under Article 4, Section 18(1). <u>Senate Daily Journal</u>, 80th Sess., at 9 (Nev. May 27, 2019) (SB 542); <u>Assembly Daily Journal</u>, 80th Sess., at 6937 (Nev. May 31, 2019) (SB 542); <u>Senate Daily Journal</u>, 80th Sess., at 98-99 (Nev. June 3, 2019) (SB 551); Assembly Daily Journal, 80th

Sess., at 7768-69 (Nev. June 3, 2019) (SB 551).³ Thus, in passing SB 542 and SB 551, "the Legislature acted on Legislative Counsel's opinion that this is a reasonable construction of the provision . . . and the Legislature is entitled to deference in its counseled selection of this interpretation." <u>Nev. Mining Ass'n v.</u> <u>Erdoes</u>, 117 Nev. 531, 540 (2001).

II. SB 542 did not change—but maintained—the existing computation base and legally operative rate currently in effect for the DMV technology fee.

During the 2015 legislative session, the Legislature enacted Senate Bill No. 502 (SB 502), which required the Department of Motor Vehicles to add a technology fee of \$1 to the existing fee for any transaction performed by the Department for which a fee is charged and to use the money collected from the DMV technology fee to pay the expenses associated with implementing, upgrading and maintaining the platform of information technology used by the Department. SB 502, 2015 Nev. Stat., ch. 394, § 3, at 2211 (codified in NRS 481.064). The Legislature also provided that SB 502 would become effective on July 1, 2015, and

³ For the 2019 legislative session, the <u>Senate Daily Journal</u> and <u>Assembly Daily Journal</u> prepared and printed under NRS 218D.930 serve as public records of the proceedings of each House until the <u>Senate Journal</u> and <u>Assembly Journal</u> have been prepared, printed and bound under NRS 218D.935. This Court may take judicial notice of legislative journals as public records. <u>Jory v. Bennight</u>, 91 Nev. 763, 766 (1975); <u>Fierle v. Perez</u>, 125 Nev. 728, 737-38 n.6 (2009). Those public records are available on the Legislature's website at: <u>https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/80th2019/Journal/</u>.

would expire by limitation on June 30, 2020. SB 502, 2015 Nev. Stat., ch. 394, § 7, at 2213.

However, even though the DMV technology fee was potentially subject to future expiration under SB 502, any future expiration of the DMV technology fee was not legally operative and binding yet because it would not become legally operative and binding until completion of the State's future fiscal year ending on June 30, 2020, under well-established rules governing the operation of statutes. 82 C.J.S. Statutes § 549 (Westlaw 2019) (explaining that "[a] statute's effective date is considered that date upon which the statute came into being as existing law, while a statute's **operative date** is the date upon which the directives of the statute may be actually implemented." (emphasis added)). Therefore, when the Legislature passed SB 542 during the 2019 legislative session, the future expiration of the DMV technology fee was not legally operative and binding yet because it would not become legally operative and binding until completion of the State's future fiscal year ending on June 30, 2020. Thus, through the passage of SB 542, the Legislature amended the future expiration of the DMV technology fee and extended it for two fiscal years—from June 30, 2020, until June 30, 2022—before the future expiration of the DMV technology fee became legally operative and binding. SB 542, 2019 Nev. Stat., ch. 400, § 1, at 2502.

Consequently, SB 542 did not change—but maintained—the existing computation base and legally operative rate currently in effect for the DMV technology fee. Because SB 542 did not change—but maintained—the existing computation base and legally operative rate currently in effect for the DMV technology fee, the existing source of revenue collected by the Department of Motor Vehicles from the DMV technology fee was not changed by the passage of SB 542. Instead, that existing source of revenue remained exactly the same after the passage of SB 542. Accordingly, based on the Legislative Counsel's opinion interpreting the two-thirds requirement, the Legislature could reasonably conclude that SB 542 was not subject to the two-thirds requirement because SB 542 did not change—but maintained—the existing computation base and legally operative rate currently in effect for the DMV technology fee.

After being provided with the Legislative Counsel's opinion interpreting the two-thirds requirement, the Senate introduced SB 542 on May 10, 2019. <u>Senate Daily Journal</u>, 80th Sess., at 2 (Nev. May 10, 2019). On May 27, 2019, the Senate voted 13-8 in favor of passage of SB 542, and the bill was declared passed by a constitutional majority of all the members elected to the Senate under Article 4, Section 18(1). <u>Senate Daily Journal</u>, 80th Sess., at 9 (Nev. May 27, 2019). On May 31, 2019, the Assembly voted 28-13 in favor of passage of SB 542 (with one seat vacant), and the bill was declared passed by a constitutional majority of all the

members elected to the Assembly under Article 4, Section 18(1). <u>Assembly Daily</u> <u>Journal</u>, 80th Sess., at 6937 (Nev. May 31, 2019). On June 5, 2019, the Governor approved SB 542, and it became law under Article 4, Section 35 of the Nevada Constitution. SB 542, 2019 Nev. Stat., ch. 400, at 2501.

III. SB 551 did not change—but maintained—the existing computation bases and legally operative rates currently in effect for the Modified Business Tax.

Under NRS Chapters 363A and 363B, the Department of Taxation collects payroll taxes that are imposed on certain financial institutions, mining companies and other business entities that engage in business activities in Nevada. These payroll taxes are more commonly known as the Modified Business Tax or MBT. See Educ. Initiative PAC v. Comm. to Protect Nev. Jobs, 129 Nev. 35, 51 (2013). For the financial institutions and mining companies subject to the MBT, the existing computation base for the taxes is calculated by multiplying a tax rate of 2 percent by the amount of the wages, as defined under Nevada's labor laws, paid by the financial institution or mining company during each calendar quarter with respect to employment in connection with its business activities. NRS 363A.130. For the other business entities subject to the MBT, the existing computation base for the taxes is calculated by multiplying a tax rate of 1.475 percent by the amount of the wages, as defined under Nevada's labor laws but excluding the first \$50,000

thereof, paid by the business entity during each calendar quarter with respect to employment in connection with its business activities. NRS 363B.110.

During the 2015 legislative session, the Legislature enacted Senate Bill No. 483 (SB 483), which imposed an annual commerce tax on each business entity whose Nevada gross revenue in a fiscal year exceeds \$4,000,000, with the rate of the commerce tax based on the industry in which the business entity is primarily engaged. SB 483, 2015 Nev. Stat., ch. 487, §§ 2-61, at 2878-96 (codified in NRS Chapter 363C). The Legislature also established a rate adjustment procedure in SB 483 to be used by the Department of Taxation to determine whether the rates of the MBT should be reduced in future fiscal years under certain circumstances. SB 483, 2015 Nev. Stat., ch. 487, § 62, at 2896-97. The rate adjustment procedure was codified in NRS 360.203 and became effective on July 1, 2015. SB 483, 2015 Nev. Stat., ch. 487, § 114, at 2955-56. The rate adjustment procedure codified in NRS 360.203 was repealed by SB 551, effective June 12, 2019. SB 551, 2019 Nev. Stat., ch. 537, §§ 2, 3, 37, 39, 40, at 3273, 3275, 3294.

Under the former rate adjustment procedure, on or before September 30 of each even-numbered year, the Department of Taxation was directed to determine the combined revenue from the commerce tax and the MBT for the preceding fiscal year. NRS 360.203 (repealed effective June 12, 2019).⁴ If that combined revenue exceeded a certain threshold amount, the Department of Taxation was directed to make additional calculations to determine future reduced rates for the MBT. <u>Id.</u> However, any future reduced rates for the MBT would not go into effect and become legally operative and binding until July 1 of the following odd-numbered year, which was the beginning of the State's next fiscal year. <u>Id.</u>

Even though the former rate adjustment procedure became effective on July 1, 2015, no future reduced rates for the MBT had ever gone into effect and become legally operative and binding under the former rate adjustment procedure when the Legislature passed SB 551 during the 2019 legislative session. Legislative Counsel's Digest, SB 551, 2019 Nev. Stat., ch. 537, at 3271. As a result, when the Legislature passed SB 551 during the 2019 legislative session, the existing computation bases and legally operative rates currently in effect for the MBT were set by NRS 363A.130 and 363B.110 at 2 percent and 1.475 percent, respectively, and SB 551 did not change—but maintained—the existing computation bases and legally operative rates set by NRS 363A.130 and 363B.110 for the MBT. SB 551, 2019 Nev. Stat., ch. 537, §§ 2, 3, 37, 39, at 3273, 3275, 3294. Accordingly, based on the Legislative Counsel's opinion interpreting the

⁴ NRS 360.203 (repealed effective June 12, 2019) is reproduced in the Addendum to this brief.

two-thirds requirement, the Legislature could reasonably conclude that SB 551 was not subject to the two-thirds requirement because SB 551 did not change—but maintained—the existing computation bases and legally operative rates currently in effect for the MBT.

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