#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

THE LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF NEVADA; THE STATE OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF TAXATION; and THE STATE OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF MOTOR VEHICLES,

Electronically Filed Apr 05 2021 05:48 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 81924

Appellants/Cross-Respondents,

VS.

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

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The language of Article 4, Section 18(2) of the Nevada Constitution is not ambiguous and must be given its plain and ordinary meaning. All of the words in Article 4, Section 18(2) should be applied to SB 542 and SB 551 in their ordinary and plain understanding, consistent with the intent of the drafters and voters in enacting the supermajority provision. Article 4, Section 18(2) of the Nevada Constitution unambiguously requires a two-thirds majority vote apply to any bill which generates (brings into existence or produces) any public revenue in any form.

SB 551 and SB 542 are both bills which generated public revenue and required the affirmative vote of two-thirds of the Senate for passage. SB 551 altered computation bases for calculating the rate for MBT and payroll taxes and would generate \$98.2 million in revenue over two years. SB 542 would generate

approximately \$7 million per year in revenue. But for the existence and passage of those bills, that public revenue would not exist.

The Court should only consider contemporaneous extrinsic evidence if the clear textual meaning of the subject ballot measures cannot be ascertained. However, if the Court were to consider contemporaneous extrinsic evidence, there is ample contemporaneous extrinsic evidence to support Plaintiffs' position that SB 551 and SB 542 are the kind of bills to which the drafters and voters intended the constitutional supermajority provision apply.

Defendants' reliance on Oklahoma and Oregon cases does not reveal support for their narrow view of Nevada's constitutional supermajority requirement. Oklahoma's and Oregon's constitutional supermajority provisions differ significantly from Nevada's. To the extent the Court finds any utility in reviewing the Oklahoma and Oregon cases cited by Defendants, those cases support Plaintiffs' view that SB 542 and SB 551 required the vote of not less than two-thirds of the members of the Senate.

The judiciary is empowered to review the constitutionality of the Legislature's actions in this matter and is not required to defer to the Legislature's or Legislative Counsel's interpretation of Nevada's constitutional supermajority provision. Legislative Counsel's interpretation prior to 2019 was that the supermajority provision applied to all bills extending sunsets and to all bills bringing revenue into

the State's treasury. Legislative Counsel's abrupt reversal of this position without any change in the constitutional provision removes any consideration of deference.

Defendants' arguments with respect to operative versus effective dates is not compelling and should be rejected. None of the cases cited by Defendants support the idea that an expiration date in a statute is not operative. A sunset provision or statutory expiration date is the opposite of an operative date and none of the many cases cited by Defendants supports any conclusion otherwise.

The district court properly granted summary judgment as to Plaintiffs' claims that a two-thirds majority vote was required under Article 4, Section 18(2) to pass SB 542 and SB 551.

#### V.

### **ARGUMENT**

A. The language of Article 4, Section 18(2) is not ambiguous and must be given its plain and ordinary meaning.

This court reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment de novo, without deference to the findings of the lower court. *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). This court reviews questions of constitutional interpretation de novo. *In re Contested Election of Mallory*, 128 Nev. 436, 438, 282 P.3d 739, 741 (2012) (citing *Lawrence v. Clark County*, 127 Nev. 390, 393, 254 P.3d 606, 608 (2011)).

This Court, in *Nevada Mining Ass'n v. Erdoes*, 117 Nev. 531, 538, 26 P.3d 753, 757 (2001), summarized the rules of constitutional construction. The Court noted when construing constitutional provisions, it uses the same rules of construction used to interpret statutes. *Id.* (citing *Rogers v. Heller*, 117 Nev. 169, 176 n. 17, 18 P.3d 1034, 1038 n. 17 (2001)). A court's primary task is to ascertain the intent of those who enacted the constitutional provision and to adopt an interpretation that best captures their objective. *Id.* (citing *McKay v. Bd. of Supervisors*, 102 Nev. 644, 648, 730 P.2d 438, 441 (1986); *State v. Glenn*, 18 Nev. 34, 42, 1 P. 186, 189 (1883)). A court must give words their plain meaning unless doing so would violate the spirit of the provision. *McKay*, 102 Nev. at 648, 730 P.2d at 442.

To determine a constitutional provision's meaning, a court turns to the language and gives that language its plain effect. *Miller v. Burk*, 124 Nev. 579, 590-91, 188 P.3d 1112, 1119-20 (2008). If the language is ambiguous, the court may look to the provision's history, public policy, and reason to determine what voters intended. However, when the language of the constitutional provision is clear on its face, the court will not go beyond the language in determining the voters' intent or to create an ambiguity when none exists. *Id.* Whatever meaning is attributed to a constitutional provision may not violate the spirit of that provision. *Id.* 

This Court has also commented on the authority of the Legislature vis-a vis the Nevada Constitution. In *City of Fernley v. State*, *Dep't of Tax*, 132 Nev. 32, 41–42, 366 P.3d 699, 706 (2016), the Court noted:

The Legislature has considerable law-making authority, but it is not unlimited. Clean Water Coal., 127 Nev. at 309, 255 P.3d at 253 (interpreting the constitutionality of legislation under Nev. Const. art. 4, §§ 20–21); We the People Nev. ex rel. Angle v. Miller, 124 Nev. 874, 890 n. 55, 192 P.3d 1166, 1177 n. 55 (2008). "The Nevada Constitution is the 'supreme law of the state,' which 'control[s] over any conflicting statutory provisions.' "Thomas v. Nev. Yellow Cab Corp., —Nev. —, 327 P.3d 518, 521 (2014) (quoting Clean Water Coal., 127 Nev. at 309, 255 P.3d at 253). "It is fundamental to our federal, constitutional system of government that a state legislature 'has not the power to enact any law conflicting with the federal constitution, the laws of congress, or the constitution of its particular State.' "Thomas, — Nev. at ——, 327 P.3d at 520–21 (quoting *State v. Rhodes*, 3 Nev. 240, 250 (1867)).

. . .

"Statutes are construed to accord with constitutions, not vice versa." *Thomas*, — Nev. at ——, 327 P.3d at 521. "If the Legislature could change the Constitution by ordinary enactment, no longer would the Constitution be superior paramount law, unchangeable by ordinary means. It would be on a level with ordinary legislative acts, and, like other acts, alterable when the legislature shall please to alter it." *Id.* at 522 (internal quotations omitted). Therefore, "the principle of constitutional supremacy prevents the Nevada Legislature from creating exceptions to the rights and privileges protected by Nevada's Constitution." *Id.* 

*Id.*, 132 Nev. at 41–42, 366 P.3d at 706.

In *Thomas v. Nevada Yellow Cab Corp.*, 130 Nev. 484, 489–90, 327 P.3d 518, 521–22 (2014), the Court further stated with regard to ballot initiatives approved by the voters:

Moreover, our recent precedents have established that we consider first and foremost the original understanding of constitutional provisions, not some abstract purpose underlying them. "The goal of constitutional interpretation is 'to determine the public understanding of a legal text' leading up to and 'in the period after its enactment or ratification." Waymire, 126 Nev. at ——, 235 P.3d at 608–09 (quoting 6 Ronald D. Rotunda & John E. Nowak, Treatise on Constitutional Law § 23.32 (4th ed.2008 & Supp.2010)). To seek the intent of the provision's drafters or to attempt to aggregate the intentions of Nevada's voters into some abstract general purpose underlying the Amendment, contrary to the intent expressed by the provision's clear textual meaning, is not the proper way to perform constitutional interpretation. See generally District of Columbia v. Heller, 554 U.S. 570, 128 S.Ct. 2783, 171 L.Ed.2d 637 (2008) (interpreting the Second Amendment by seeking the original public understanding of the text, with majority disagreeing on dissent content understanding). "The issue ought to be not what the legislature," or, in this case, the voting public, "meant to say, but what it succeeded in saying." Lon L. Fuller, Anatomy of the Law 18 (Greenwood Press 1976).

Courts should give effect to the words actually used in a constitutional provision and should neither delete words used nor insert words not used in the relevant language during the statutory construction process. The courts lack authority to add words that the drafters themselves left out and the rules of construction compel a court to read the provision as written without expanding,

inserting, or deleting words. *Midrex Technologies, Inc. v. N.C. Department of Revenue*, 794 S.E. 2d 785, 792 (N.C. 2016) (noting courts should give effect to the words actually used in a statute and should neither delete words used nor insert words not used in the relevant statutory language during the statutory construction process).

Both the Executive Agency Defendants and the Defendant Legislature argue the common dictionary meanings for the words "creates, generates or increases" support a conclusion that the supermajority requirement did not apply to either SB 542 or SB 551. Executive Appellants' Opening Brief, pp. 13-19; Appellant Legislature's Opening Brief, pp. 27-30. Their contortions of the dictionary definitions should not be accepted by this Court, however.

The following definitions are suggested by these Defendants:

- "Create" means to bring into existence or produce. *Create*, *Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary* (9<sup>th</sup> ed. 1991); *Create*, *Merriam-Webster's Collegiate Dictionary* (10<sup>th</sup> ed. 1995).
- "Generate" means to bring into existence or produce. *Generate*, *Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary* (9<sup>th</sup> ed. 1991); *Generate*, *Merriam-Webster's Collegiate Dictionary* (10<sup>th</sup> ed. 1995).
- "Increase" means to make greater, enlarge, or to become progressively greater. *Increase*, *Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary* (9<sup>th</sup> ed. 1991); *Increase*, *Merriam-Webster's Collegiate Dictionary* (10<sup>th</sup> ed. 1995).

Executive Appellants' Opening Brief, pp. 13-14; Appellant Legislature's Opening Brief, p. 28.

Defendant Legislature argues the normal and ordinary meaning of these terms supports a conclusion that the supermajority requirement "applies to a bill which directly brings into existence, produces or enlarges public revenue in the first instance by imposing new or increased state taxes." Appellant Legislature's Opening Brief, pp. 28-29. Executive Agency Defendants argue the provision applies only to a bill that brings into existence a tax or fee or increases an existing tax or fee. Executive Appellants' Opening Brief, pp. 13-14.

To accept the Defendant Legislature's interpretation would require insertion of several words to the Constitution. The Constitution says nothing about limiting the supermajority requirement to bills that "directly" produce taxes or fees "in the first instance." Defendant Legislature also spends time arguing about effective and operative dates of a statute and that those terms must be given consideration when determining whether the supermajority provision applies. Appellant Legislature's Opening Brief, pp. 30-36.<sup>3</sup> Defendant Legislature's construction requires an exception be read into Article 4, Section 18(2) for bills that "maintain" an "existing source of revenue". Such an exception is not found in Article 4, Section 18(2).

There is nothing in Article 4, Section 18(2) of the Constitution which states the supermajority requirement is not required for or applied to bills which extend

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Plaintiffs provide a complete response to the operative versus effective date argument below.

until a later date or revise or eliminate a future decrease in or future expiration of existing state taxes when the future decrease or expiration is not yet legally operative and binding. The Legislature's and Executive Agency Defendants' construction requires that this Court construe Article 4, Section 18(2) to provide that only *new* taxes or a bill *in the first instance imposing new or increased* taxes is subject to the supermajority requirement and that an exception is contained in the constitution provision for bills that *maintain* an *existing source of revenue*. That is not the language the drafters used, or the voters supported in amending the Nevada Constitution to add the supermajority requirement.

Regarding the Executive Agency Defendants' interpretation, the Court need only note the supermajority provision does not say it only applies to bills that create, generate or increase "taxes, fees, assessment and rates", or that revenue generated must be compared from one fiscal year to the next, or that existing fees are exempted from the language "which creates, generates, or increases any public revenue in any form" of the constitutional provision. Executive Appellants' Opening Brief at 10, 12, 18, 19, 21. The constitutional language plainly states it applies to bills that create, generate, or increase *public revenue in any form*. The constitutional supermajority provision does not include the terms "new taxes" or "existing taxes and fees". The question here is simply whether SB 542 and SB 551 created, generated, or increased *any public revenue*.

Moreover, just as they did below, the Executive Agency Defendants "assume" Plaintiffs are relying on the term "increase" rather than on the words "create" or "generate" in the constitutional provision and then they launch a discussion about whether "increase" has any application to public revenue increasing or decreasing from one fiscal year to the next, irrespective of legislative action. Executive Appellants' Opening Brief, p. 14. The Executive Agency Defendants' position is simply nonsensical and Plaintiffs clearly addressed Executive Agency Defendants' faulty assumption below. *See* JA Vol. IV at 702-03.

In addition to considering the definitions of "creates," "generates," and "increases," Plaintiffs suggest definitions of the following additional terms from Article 4, Section 18(2) are useful:

- "Any" means "one, some or all indiscriminately of whatever quantity" or "unmeasured or unlimited in amount, number or extent." *Any, Merriam Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary* (10<sup>th</sup> ed. 1994); *see also In re Opinion of the Justices*, 575 A.2d 1186, 1189 (Del. 1990) (determining in the context of a supermajority provision the term "any" is all inclusive and unambiguous).
- "Change" means "to make different in some particular" or "alter." *Change*, *Merriam Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary* (10<sup>th</sup> ed. 1994).
- "Computation" means "the act or action of computing" or "calculation." *Merriam Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary* (10<sup>th</sup> ed. 1994).
- "Revenue" means "the total income produced by a given source" or "the yield of sources of income (as taxes) that a political unit (as a nation or state) collects and receives into the treasury for public use." *Revenue*, *Merriam Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary* (10<sup>th</sup> ed. 1994).

- "Base" means "a number that is multiplied by a rate or of which a percentage or fraction is calculated." *Base*, *Merriam Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary* (10<sup>th</sup> ed. 1994).
- "Bill" means "a draft of a law presented to a legislature for enactment". *Bill, Merriam Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary* (10<sup>th</sup> ed. 1994); *See also* "Bill" means a "draft of a proposed law presented for enactment." 2019 *Nevada Legislative Manual Eightieth Session of the Nevada Legislature*: Appendix F—Legislative Terminology, at 263.<sup>4</sup>

Regarding the phrase "changes in computation bases," the word "base" is plural, indicating there could be many numbers used in the act of computing or determining by mathematical means a tax, fee, assessment, or rate. The word "change" is also broad and specifically includes alterations. Changes to computation bases, therefore, include alterations like removal or repeal of the computation or mathematical means of determining a tax, fee, assessment, or rate.

Likewise, the definition of "any" defeats the Defendants' narrow view of the supermajority's application. "Any public revenue in any form" necessarily includes more than revenue generated in the first instance from the imposition of new taxes or from increasing existing taxes. Nor does the phrase exclude bills extending or altering existing sources of revenue. "Any" is all inclusive, unlimited in scope. If a bill produces any public revenue in any form, it is clearly subject to the constitutional

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The entire 2019 Nevada Legislative Manual may be accessed at: <a href="https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Division/Research/Content/items/nevada-legislative-manual-2019">https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Division/Research/Content/items/nevada-legislative-manual-2019</a>.

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